# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MORRIS E. COURTNEY,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

vs.

\* NO. 2007-CA-01440

WALLACE B. MCCLUGGAGE,

Defendant/Appellee.

\*

On Appeal From Green County Circuit Court
Case No. 2005-04-041(2)

BRIEF OF APPELLANT, Morris E. Courtney

# **ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED**

Stewart L. Howard STEWART HOWARD, P.C. Post Office Box 1903 Mobile, Alabama 36633 Ph: (251) 431-9364

Fx: (251) 431-9368 Stewart@slhpc.com

# **Certificate of Interested Persons**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. Whether good cause has been demonstrated for failure to serve process within the prescribed 120 day period when the following occurred:
  - a) The original service occurred within 15 days of the filing of the complaint;
  - b) A default judgment was set aside due to a family member with a nearly identical name, signing for service of mail he knew was for his son;
  - c) The plaintiff had to re-serve the defendant after the default judment was set aside; and
  - d) The plaintiff amended the complaint to correct any service deficiencies, re-filed it, and served the defendant in a jail, located in another state within 56 days of the order setting the default aside.
- II. Alternatively, whether the 120 day period to serve the summons and complaint in M.R.C.P. Rule 4(h) applies after a default judgment has been entered and if so, whether the 120 day period tolls after the initial service until the default judgment is set aside.
- III. Alternatively, whether the defendant waived insufficiency of process, insufficiency of service, or lack of personal jurisdiction by not asserting these defenses in his initial Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment or Supplemental Motion to Set Aside Default Judgment.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# A. Procedural History

On April 25, 2005, the Plaintiff/Appellant, Morris E. Courtney ("Courtney") filed a complaint against the Defendant/Appellee, Wallace B. McCluggage ("McCluggage") for a vehicle accident which occurred on January 7, 2003. R. 8-9. Courtney attempted to gct service on McCluggage through certified mail, return receipt requested at the address he provided on the accident report. R. 9. Courtney also sent McCluggage's insurance carrier a copy of the complaint, and notified the carrier that Courtney was attempting to get service on McCluggage. R. 38. On May 5, 2005, the certified receipt was signed by a "Wallace McCluggage." R. 20. A timely answer was not filed.

On July 25, 2005, Courtney filed an Application for Default. R. 10. On August 1, 2005, a default judgment was entered. R. 22. On August 10, 2005, a revised default judgment was entered correcting a clerical error. R. 24. On August 25, 2005, 122 days after the complaint was filed, McCluggage filed a Motion for Relief from Judgment. R. 25-28. The motion stated that the default judgment was void as a matter of law because a hearing was not held pursuant to M.R.C.P Rule 55 on the amount of damages and alternatively, because notice was not given to the Defendant, who made an appearance. R. 26. With regard to notice, the motion specifically stated as follows:

Notice is required for any Defendant who has made an appearance pursuant to Rule 55. The traditional formal requirements for what constitutes an appearance has been broadly defined and liberally interpreted. <u>Journey v. Long</u>, 585 So.2d 1268, 1272 (Miss. 1991), citing <u>Heleasco</u>

Seventeen, Inc. V. Drake, 102 F.R.D. 909, 912 (1984). "Several cases have held that informal contacts between parties may constitute an appearance." Id. Here, the Plaintiff's attorney had, and was engaging in settlement discussions with Defendant's insurance company, and was well aware they would defend any lawsuit filed.

R. 26-27.

On October 2, 2005, Courtney filed a Reply to Defendant, Wallace B.

McCluggage's Motion for Relief from Judgment by which Courtney consented to a hearing on the issue of damages but maintained that the entry of default was due to be upheld. R. 29-31. On October 3, 2005, McCluggage filed a Supplemental Motion for Relief from Judgment which requested that McCluggage be allowed to conduct discovery on the issue of damages. R. 32-34. The Supplemental Motion specifically incorporated each and every argument made in the Motion for Relief from Judgment. R. 32. On October 24, 2005, Courtney filed a Reply to Defendant, Wallace B. McCluggage's Supplemental Motion for Relief from Judgment. R. 37-39.

On November 28, 2005, 217 days after the complaint was filed, and 202 days after service of the Complaint by certified mail, McCluggage filed a Second Supplemental Motion for Relief from Judgment which first raised the defense that service was inadequate. R. 40-45. The motion stated in part that the defendant, "Wallace B. McCluggage," had not signed for the certified mail. R. 41. Rather, "Wallace McCluggage," the defendant's father signed for the certified mail. R. 41. The supplemental motion further stated that the envelope containing the summons and

Affidavit of the defendant's mother, dated November 18, 2006, which stated that the defendant's father had signed for the package, and was estranged from McCluggage. R. 44. The defendant's mother also stated that she found the certified letter around August 19, 2005, and proceeded to open the letter, read the contents, and take the letter to the insurance agent. R. 44.

On November 29, 2005, Courtney filed a Response to Defendant's Motion to Set Aside Judgment. R. 49-51. On November 30, 2005, a hearing on the Motion to Set Aside the Default Judgment was held. Subsequently, on February 8, 2006, the defendant's father signed an Affidavit which stated that he signed for the certified mail knowing that the mail was intended for his son and then did not open the letter. R. 54-55. The defendant's father stated that his son was incarcerated at the Aiken Detention Center in South Carolina on May 5, 2005. R. 54.

On February 14, 2006, the Court entered an Order Granting Defendant's Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default. R. 56-57. After the order, Courtney determined where McCluggage was incarcerated, determined the address for the Aiken Detention Center, contacted the sheriff's office to determine the appropriate procedures to have McCluggage served in jail, and made the appropriate amendments to the complaint, specifying the correct address. R. 75. On April 6, 2006, Courtney filed an Amended Complaint which was properly served on McCluggage on April 11, 2006. R. 58-59; R. 66. The following is a summary of the timeline of preceding events:

ACTION	DATE
Complaint	April 25, 2005
Certified Mail Receipt	May 10, 2005
Default Judgment	August 10, 2005
Motion for Relief from Judgment (waiver of service defense)	September 8, 2005
Supplemental Motion for Relief from Judgment (waiver of service defense)	October 7, 2005
Second Supplemental Motion for Relief from Judgment (asserting insufficiency of service)	November 28, 2005
Affidavit of Father	February 8, 2006
Order Granting Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default	February 14, 2006
Amended Complaint (clarifying name)	April 6, 2006
Affidavit of Service	April 11, 2006

On April 17, 2006, McCluggage filed a Motion for an Enlargement of Time to Plead, Answer, or Otherwise Move. R. 60-62. The parties entered an agreed order extending the time which was approved by the Court on May 4, 2006. R. 63. On June 5, 2006, McCluggage filed an Answer which incorporated a motion to dismiss. R. 66-73. The motion to dismiss asserted that Courtney never obtained an order from the Court extending time for service. R. 67. McCluggage stated that the filing of the Complaint on May 25, 2005 tolled the statute of limitations for 120 days. However, McCluggage asserted that since he was not properly served within 120 days of the original filing, the statute of limitations began to run at the expiration of the 120 days and expired on May 7,

2006. McCluggage and the Court calculated that the 120 days began to run with the filing of the original Complaint and continued to run, even though McCluggage was served within 15 days from the original filing and it took 280 days to set aside the default.

On June 28, 2006, Courtney filed a Reply to Motion to Dismiss asserting among other things, that the court should look at the "good cause" demonstrated. R. 74-80. On February 27, 2007, McCluggage filed a Motion to Strike Amended Complaint asserting that the Amended Complaint was filed without leave of the trial court. R. 106-108. On March 13, 2007, Courtney filed a Motion for Leave to File Amended Complaint. R. 109.

On March 13, 2007, Courtney also filed a Reply to Defendant's Motion to Strike and Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss. R. 112-123. In addition to other arguments, the reply states that "Plaintiff hereby requests additional time, if that is found to be necessary, pursuant to the good cause exception." R. 114. On April 19, 2007, McCluggage filed a Rebuttal to Plaintiff's Reply to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss. R. 127-133. On April 19, 2007, McCluggage also filed a Response to Plaintiffs Motion to File Amended Complaint. R. 134-138. On July 20, 2007, the Court entered an Order Granting Motion to Dismiss for failure to timely serve process. R. 139-141. The order stated that "at no time was the aid of the Court sought to enable the plaintiff to correctly serve process outside the 120 day limit," and "no attempt was made to secure additional time to serve process." R. 141 (emphasis added). Therefore, the Court found that good cause did not exist for the failure to serve process within the 120 day period, apparently since additional time had not been requested [although additional time

clearly had been requested]. R. 141.

# B. Statement of Facts

On January 7, 2003, Courtney was involved in a vehicle accident with McCluggage in Greene County Mississippi. R. 08. Courtney suffered injuries to his knees, mouth and other parts of his body. R. 09. On April 25, 2005, Courtney filed a complaint against McCluggage in the Circuit Court of Greene County, Mississippi alleging that McCluggage negligently and/or wantonly pulled out from a stop sign into the path of Courtney causing the collision.

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Pursuant to M.R.C.P Rule 4(h), Courtney has shown good cause for failing to serve process within the 120 day period. The failure to serve process was due to the misleading conduct of the defendant's father, and the efforts to get an out-of-state incarcerated, defendant served. Courtney asked for leave of court to serve McCluggage outside of the 120 day period even though such leave is not required and served the defendant with an amended complaint within 56 days of the court's decision that service was originally insufficient. Therefore, good cause was shown, Courtney's service of the amended complaint was timely, and the dismissal is improper.

Alternatively, the 120 day period to serve the original complaint in M.R.C.P. Rule 4(h) does not apply to this situation. In particular, M.R.C.P. Rule 4(h) does not contemplate setting aside a default judgment for inadequate service. Therefore, in the alternative, McCluggage's dismissal based on the failure to serve the defendant within 120 days is improper because M.R.C.P. Rule 4(h) does not contemplate service after a default judgment is set aside.

Alternatively, even if this Court determines that M.R.C.P. Rule 4(h) applies to a situation in which a default judgment is set aside, the trial court miscalculated the 120 day period. Courtney served McCluggage within 15 days of filing the initial complaint and within 56 days of the order setting aside the default judgment. The time for service should have tolled once McCluggage was initially served. The 280 days between the original service and the order setting aside the default should not count against Courtney.

Therefore, in the alternative, the time under M.R.C.P. Rule 4(h) tolled after the initial service and did not begin to run until the default judgment was set aside. Therefore, Courtney served McCluggage within 71 days which is timely under M.R.C.P. Rule 4(h).

Alternatively, under M.R.C.P. Rule 12(b), inadequate service, or lack of personal jurisdiction must be timely asserted or they are waived. By filing a motion and a supplemental motion before raising the defense of inadequate service, and furthermore, by participating in the proceedings by attempting to clarify damages, McCluggage waived any defense to inadequacy of service. Therefore, the order setting aside the default judgment is improper because McCluggage.was served within the 120 days and any insufficiency was waived by not asserting such in the first two motions with the court. Furthermore, the dismissal based on a failure to serve McCluggage within 120 days as prescribed in M.R.C.P. Rule 4(h) is improper.

## **ARGUMENT**

I. THIS COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDING THAT THE PLAINTIFF FAILED TO SHOW GOOD CAUSE FOR FAILURE TO SERVE PROCESS WITHIN 120 DAYS.

Pursuant to M.R.C.P. Rule 4(h), a failure to serve process within 120 days will only cause a complaint to be dismissed if the plaintiff cannot show good cause for failing to meet the deadline. Holmes v. Coast Transit Authority, 815 So.2d 1183, 1185 (¶ 7)(Miss. Ct. App. 2002). Whether or not the plaintiff can show good cause is a discretionary matter for the trial court and is entitled to deferential review of whether the trial court abused its discretion, and whether there was substantial evidence supporting the determination. In re Estate of Ware, 573 So.2d 773, 775-776 (Miss. 1990). The plaintiff bears the burden to demonstrate the existence of good cause for the failure to timely serve process. Montgomery v. Smithkline Beecham Corp., 910 So.2d 541, 547 (¶ 24) (Miss. 2005). A showing of good cause requires at least as much as would establish excusable neglect, and must be more than "simple inadvertence or mistake of counsel or ignorance of the rules." Watters v. Stripling, 675 So.2d 1242,1243 (Miss. 1996). "A plaintiff must be diligent in serving process within 120 days." Bang v. Pittman, 749 So.2d 47, 52 (¶ 25) (Miss. 1999)(overruled on other grounds).

# A. THE PLAINTIFF SOUGHT LEAVE OF COURT TO SERVE PROCESS OUTSIDE THE 120 DAY LIMIT EVEN THOUGH LEAVE IS NOT REQUIRED.

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 4(h) states:

If a service of the summons and complaint is not made upon defendant within 120 days after the filing of the complaint and the party on whose behalf such service was required cannot show good cause why such service was not made within that period, the action shall be dismissed as to that defendant without prejudice upon the court's own initiative with notice to such party or upon such motion.

In the Order Granting Motion to Dismiss, the court states that at "no time was the aid of the Court sought to enable the plaintiff to correctly serve process outside the 120 day limit." This is an erroneous review of the record, and of Mississippi law.

M.R.C.P. Rule 4(h) does not require that leave of court for additional time be sought. Webster v. Webster, 834 So.2d 26, 28 (¶ 10)(Miss. 2002). Rather, the rule provides for notice to the plaintiff before the court dismisses the complaint at which time a motion for additional time to serve would be appropriate. Id. Furthermore, M.R.C.P. rule 4(h) does not require that a motion for additional time for service of process be filed within 120 days of the filing of the complaint. Webster v. Webster, 834 So.2d 26, 28 (¶ 8)(Miss. 2002). Therefore, the request was timely. Quite simply, M.R.C.P. Rule 4(h) mandates that if you wait beyond the 120 days, you must show good cause why the party was not served. Cross Creek Productions v. Scafidi, 911 So.2d 958, 960 (¶ 5) (Miss. 2005).

In the case at bar, Courtney filed a Reply to Motion to Dismiss which stated that the court should "look to the attempts of service and good cause demonstrated."

Additionally, in the Plaintiff's Reply to Defendant's Motion to Strike and Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss, Courtney stated that "Plaintiff hereby requests

additional time, if that is found to be necessary, pursuant to the good cause exception."

Therefore, the finding that the plaintiff did not seek the aid of the court is erroneous as to the law, and as to the facts of the case at bar.

### B. GOOD CAUSE WAS CLEARLY SHOWN.

Good cause may be found when the plaintiff's failure to effect timely service was due to the conduct of a third person, or when the defendant has evaded service of process or has engaged in misleading conduct. Holmes v. Coast Transit Authority, 815 So.2d 1183, 1185 (¶ 12)(Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

In the present case, Courtney has demonstrated good cause for failing to meet the deadline, and was diligent in trying to get McCluggage served. Courtney undertook to serve McCluggage by certified mail at the address McCluggage provided on the accident report. Courtney also attempted to contact McCluggage through his insurance carrier. That company was sent a copy of the Complaint, and notified that service was being attempted on its insured.

On May 10, 2005, 15 days after filing the Complaint, a "return receipt" was signed by "Wallace McCluggage." Courtney was under the impression that service was proper on McCluggage. Relying on the "return receipt" bearing what appeared to be the defendant's signature was more than simple inadvertence, mistake of counsel, or ignorance of the rules. Given the similarity in the names, the reliance was justified. Furthermore, the failure to properly serve McCluggage was due to the misleading conduct of the defendant's father. The defendant's father admitted as much when he indicated that

he knew that the certified letter was intended for his son but he signed for the letter anyway. The defendant's father was fully aware or should have been aware that signing his name for certified mail intended for his estranged son could mislead the sender to rely that the mail had been properly delivered. The fact that the defendant's father engaged in misleading conduct, and then, did not respond, forward or even open the mail for three months should not be used to discount Courtney's diligence.

Furthermore, McCluggage's failure to timely raise the defense of insufficiency of service should not be attributed to Courtney's diligence. The earliest point that Courtney could have been put on notice that the signature was possibly not that of McCluggage was on November 28, 2005, which is 217 days after the complaint was filed. However, even at that point, the insufficiency was a mere allegation. In fact, the Affidavit of the defendant's father stating that he had signed for the package was not signed until February 8, 2006, and the order stating that service was not proper was not entered until February 16, 2006. In total, there were 280 days from the date on which McCluggage was originally served to the date on which the court entered an order that service was insufficient. The 280 day delay is not the fault of Courtney. Rather, it is a result of McCluggage's delay in raising the defense.

Upon a determination that service was insufficient, Courtney made a diligent attempt to get McCluggage served again. Courtney determined where McCluggage was incarcerated, determined the address for the Aiken Detention Center, contacted the sheriff's office to determine the appropriate procedures to have McCluggage served in

jail, and made the appropriate amendments to the complaint to clarify the name and the service directions. On April 11, 2006, 56 days after the court ruled that service was not proper, Courtney was able to properly serve McCluggage at the Aiken Detention Center.

Courtney's failure to mark "restricted delivery" is not the proximate cause of the failure of service. In fact, had McCluggage signed for the package as it appeared, then there would be no issue as to whether Courtney had failed to mark "restricted delivery." Courtney was not aware of the similarity between the names of McCluggage and the defendant's father. Therefore, without notice otherwise, the signature on the return receipt seemed to cure any problems with service.

Therefore, while an excusable mistake on marking "restricted delivery" may have been made, it was furthered by the family of McCluggage, the delay of McCluggage in raising the defense, and the time necessary for the trial court to review and make a determination on the sufficiency of service. As such, the failure to get service in the 120 days is explainable, and good cause has been demonstrated.

# II. ALTERNATIVELY THE 120 DAY PERIOD IN M.R.C.P. RULE 4(h) FOR SERVICE OF THE SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT DOES NOT APPLY AFTER A DEFAULT JUDGMENT HAS BEEN ENTERED, BUT IS LATER SET ASIDE.

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 4(h) does not contemplate setting aside a default judgment. Quite simply, M.R.C.P. Rule 4(h) deals with time limits for service of the original summons and complaint. Applying the time limits in M.R.C.P. Rule 4(h) when setting aside a default judgment is problematic, and can yield inequitable consequences. In particular, applying M.R.C.P. Rule 4(h) to an attack on a default

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