### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DOCKET	NO	2007-	CA.	<b>01440</b>
	INC.	2007	~~-	V 144V

MORRIS E. COURTNEY

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

VS.

WALLACE B. McCLUGGAGE

**DEFENDANT/APPELLEE** 

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF GREENE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI GREENE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT NO. 2005-04-041(2)

BRIEF of the APPELLEE WALLACE B. McCLUGGAGE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

MYLES E. SHARP (MSB # HEWITT AND SHARP, PLLC POST OFFICE BOX 6669 D'IBERVILLE, MS 39540 (228) 392-2003 phone (228) 392-7618 fax E-mail: myles@hewittlaw.net ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### **DOCKET NO. 2007-CA-01440**

**MORRIS E. COURTNEY** 

PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant would agree with the Plaintiffs statement of the case except for the following. Defendant would deny that Plaintiff "made the appropriate amendments to the complaint," as asserted at p. 4 of his brief, since Plaintiff never sought leave to Amend the Complaint nor was it timely served. Additionally, Defendant denies that the Amended Complaint "was properly served on McCluggage on April 11, 2006," as asserted at p. 4 of his brief, for the same reasons.

Additionally, Defendant would dispute Plaintiff's assertion that he requested additional time as asserted on p. 6 of his brief. In fact, not only was this "request" contained within a Reply Brief to the Motion to Dismiss, and <u>not a motion</u>, it was filed the day after the hearing on the Motion to Dismiss, after Plaintiff failed to appear at the hearing. In other words, Plaintiff failed to appear at the hearing on Defendants Motion to Dismiss, and then the day after, filed a responsive pleading.

Finally, Defendant denies that Plaintiff suffered injuries to his knees, mouth and other parts of his body.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

After the Default Judgment set aside on the grounds that Defendant was never served, Plaintiff never filed a Motion for an Extension of Time to serve process. Instead, Plaintiff relies upon a bare assertion in his response to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, that good cause had been demonstrated and for additional time if necessary. Never was a Motion filed with the Court. Compounding Plaintiff's problem is the fact that the Reply Brief upon which he relies was filed one day after the hearing on the Motion to Dismiss, for which he failed to appear. Thus, after failing to appear at the properly noticed hearing on Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, Plaintiff filed a Reply to the Motion to Dismiss the following day, and now seeks to hold the trial court in error for stating in its Order that leave was never sought by the Plaintiff for an extension.

Even if this Court were to find that the Reply Brief was sufficient as a motion for time, Plaintiff still can not meet his burden of showing good cause. Plaintiff's failure to mark the envelope "restricted delivery" is the sole reason service was not completed. There was no evasion or misleading conduct on the part of this Defendant, or anyone else, to cause this failure. Plaintiff's failure made it perfectly permissible for his father to sign for a letter which was only "certified." The requirement of "restricted delivery" is designed for the very reason exemplified in this case. Plaintiff's ignorance of the rule or mistake or inadvertence does not rise to the level of good cause.

Moreover, the only issue for this Court is why service was not completed within the initial 120 days. The simple answer is because Plaintiff failed to mark the envelope "restricted delivery" which ultimately led to Defendant's father signing for the letter. This mistake can be categorized as nothing other than ignorance of the rules, or mistake of counsel; neither of which constitutes good cause. All other arguments regarding what happened <u>after</u> the expiration of the initial 120 days are completely irrelevant as to why service was not completed within the time allowed.

Finally, Defendant's collateral attack of a void judgment cannot serve to give the Court retroactive jurisdiction over that Defendant. Defendant coming in to challenge as void the Default Judgment, does not act as a waiver of jurisdiction. The court must have jurisdiction at the time the Order is entered.

Thereafter, once Defendant was served with the Amended Complaint, some 217 days after the original Complaint was filed, he raised insufficiency of process and that process served was insufficient, and that the applicable statute of limitations had expired.

Plaintiff's attempt to reverse the trial court's order setting aside the default judgment is procedurally barred since the time has expired to challenge that order. Since the Order that set aside the Default Judgment effectively dismissed the action since service of process had never been accomplished, Plaintiff had 30 days to appeal same. Instead, Plaintiff amended the Complaint, without leave of court, and attempted to proceed with the litigation.

- (1) There is absolutely no dispute that Defendant was not served during the 120 days as required by Rule 4(h), and Plaintiff admits same in his brief.
- (2) Plaintiff never filed any Motion for an Extension of Time to effect service of process.
- (3) Plaintiff filed no reply to Defendant's Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss, and failed to appear at the hearing thereon. The day <u>after</u> the hearing, Plaintiff finally filed a Reply which was untimely.
- (4) Plaintiff cannot, and did not show good cause why service was not accomplished within the initial 120 days, because his failure to mark the envelope "restricted" can only be categorized as ignorance of the rules, or mistake of counsel, which does not suffice as good cause.
- (5) Defendant's collateral attack of the default judgment is not a waiver of service, and Plaintiff's appeal of the order setting aside the default judgment are procedurally barred.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE PLAINTIFF FAILED TO MOVE FOR AN EXTENSION OF TIME TO SERVE PROCESS, AND THUS FAILED TO SHOW GOOD CAUSE FOR FAILURE TO SERVE PROCESS WITHIN 120 DAYS.

Defendant would show that the authority cited by Plaintiff here offers no assistance to Plaintiff, and only serves to support the arguments advanced by the Defendant.

### **FACTS AND BACKGROUND**

This case arises from an automobile accident on January 7, 2003, between the parties. The Plaintiff filed a Complaint on or about April 25, 2005, for damages alleged to have been sustained.

Service of process was attempted on May 5, 2005, pursuant to Rule 4(c)(5) for service on persons outside the State of Mississippi. However, said service was not proper in that Defendant no longer resided at the address served, and the Plaintiff failed to mark the envelope as "Restricted Delivery," resulting in the mail being signed for by Defendant's father.<sup>1</sup>

Since the entry of this Court's Order that service of process was improper, Plaintiff contends that service was then properly made on April 11, 2006.<sup>2</sup> Plaintiff has not, and did not, re-file the Complaint prior to service, nor has Plaintiff sought leave of this Court to effectuate service outside the 120 days allowed.

In response to Defendant's motion to set aside the default judgment, the trial court entered an Order granting same on February 14, 2006, on the grounds that service was not proper, and the trial court lacked jurisdiction over the Defendant. (R. at 56).

Defendant would show that whether the April 11, 2006 service was proper is of no consequence, since same was made without leave of Court, and outside the 120 days allowable by Rule 4(h).

For the convenience of the Court, the following is a time-line of the events in the case at bar:

January 7, 2003	Date of subject accident Statute of Limitations begins to run
May 25, 2005	Complaint Filed Statute of Limitations tolled for 120 days
September 25, 2005	Expiration of 120 days allowed for Service Statute of Limitations begins to run again
February 14, 2006	Order Granting Defendant's Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default
April 6, 2006	Amended Complaint filed (without leave of Court)
April 11, 2006	Service of Process on Defendant (see fn.2 on pg. 4)
May 7, 2006	Statute of Limitations expires
June 7, 2006	Answer filed raising Statute of Limitations and Service of Process defenses
June 7, 2006	Motion to Dismiss (contained in Answer)
February 27, 2007	Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss
March 12, 2007	Hearing on Motion to Dismiss (Plaintiff fails to Appear)
March 13, 2007	Plaintiff's Reply to Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss

### **ARGUMENT AND LAW**

"While the filing of a Complaint tolls the statute of limitations, if service is not made upon the defendant within 120 days as required by M.R.C.P. 4(h), the limitations period resumes running at the end of the 120 days." *Owens v. Mai*, 891 So.2d 220, 223 (Miss. 2005), Citing *Holmes v. Coast Transit Auth.*, 815 So.2d 1183, 1185 (Miss. 2002); *Watters v. Stripling*, 675 So.2d 1242, 1244 (Miss. 1996); *Moore ex rel. Moore v. Boyd*, 799 So.2d 133,137 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001); *Young v. Hooker*,

753 So.2d 456, 460 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999).

"A plaintiff who does not serve the defendant within the 120-day period must either re-file the complaint before the statute of limitations ends or show good cause for failing to serve process on the defendant within that 120-day period; otherwise dismissal is proper." Holmes v. Coast Transit Auth., 815 So.2d 1183, 1185 (Miss. 2002); Citing Watters v. Stripling, 675 So.2d 1242, 1244 (Miss. 1996); Brumfield v. Lowe, 744 So.2d 383, 387 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). See also Triple "C" Transport, Inc. and Henry v. Dickens, 870 So.2d 1195 (Miss. 2004). The Supreme Court has reaffirmed the holdings in Holmes as recently as 2006. See Heard v. Remy, 937 So.2d 939 (Miss. 2006).

## A. THE PLAINTIFF NEVER SOUGHT LEAVE OF COURT TO SERVE PROCESS OUTSIDE THE 120 DAY LIMIT AS REQUIRED.

Plaintiff takes issue with the trial court's statement in its Order Granting Motion to Dismiss that at "no time was the aid of the Court sought to enable the plaintiff to correctly serve process outside the 120 day limit" by asserting that the statement is "an erroneous review of the record."

(R. at 141). Plaintiff's argument here is simply without merit.

A simple review of the record clearly demonstrates the absence of any Motion filed on behalf of the Plaintiff for an extension of time to serve process. Plaintiff filed a Reply to Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, wherein he argued that his counsel should have been given 30 days to consider the trial court's order setting aside the default, before the 120 days started to run again. (R. at 78). Of course, the 120 days had already run, and does not "begin to run again." Moreover, Plaintiff seems to assume that such extensions are granted <u>automatically</u> without the necessity of a motion being filed. Moreover, the only good cause argument he made therein, was in reference to the Order Setting Aside the Default Judgment. (R. at 77). Essentially, instead of addressing the current

Motion to Dismiss, Plaintiff was attempting to re-litigate the Default Judgment which had already been set aside. Nonetheless, all was contained within a reply brief, and not a motion.

In fact, Plaintiff failed to even appear at the hearing on Defendant's Motion to Dismiss which was set for March 12, 2007. (Appellee's Record Excerpts p. 1, and p.3).

Thereafter, on March 13, 2007, the day after the hearing, Plaintiff filed a Reply to Defendant's Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss. (R. at 112). This Reply was untimely filed, as it should have been filed no later than 10 days after the filing of Defendant's Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss which was filed February 27, 2007.<sup>3</sup>

Additionally, Plaintiff urges this Court to accept that his statement in a reply brief that he "requests additional time, if that is found to be necessary," as a motion. Again, not only was it not contained in a motion as required, it was made the day after the hearing on the matter, to which Plaintiff nor his attorney appeared. Plaintiff's assertion that the trial court was in error for finding he never moved for an extension of time is unconscionable.

### B. GOOD CAUSE WAS NEVER SHOWN.

Since there can be no dispute that Plaintiff has failed to re-file his Complaint since the expiration of the 120 days, the only avenue of assistance to the Plaintiff is whether he can show good cause for his failure. However, Plaintiff never even filed any Motion with the trial court asserting good cause and seeking an extension of time to perfect service. As such, Plaintiff's attempts to address that issue for the first time on appeal is procedurally barred.

A simple review of the record reveals that Plaintiff never filed any Motion with the trial court. Instead, in <u>responses</u> to motions filed by Defendant, Plaintiff made vague assertions regarding

Defendant subsequently filed a Motion to Strike the Reply as untimely, which the trial court held was moot by virtue of its granting dismissal.

good cause, but steadfastly held on to the notion that there was no requirement for him to file any motion for an extension of time to complete service. One such attempt was made in his Reply Brief which was filed the day after the hearing on Defendant's Motion to Dismiss, for which Plaintiff failed to appear. The Reply Brief was also untimely in that it should have been filed within 10 days of Defendants memorandum pursuant to Uniform Local Rule 4.03. In case this Court does not find this issue procedurally barred, Defendant would show that nonetheless, the failures by the Plaintiff in this case do not rise to the level of good cause necessary.

Plaintiff bears the burden of establishing good cause. (M.R.C.P. 4(h)); Holmes v. Coast Transit Auth., 815 So.2d 1183, 1185 (Miss. 2002). In Holmes, the Court reiterated that "at a minimum, a plaintiff attempting to establish 'good cause' must show 'at least as much as would be required to show excusable neglect, as to which simple inadvertence or mistake of counsel or ignorance of the rules does not suffice." Id. at 1186, citing Watters v. Stripling, 675 So.2d at 1243 (quoting Systems Signs Supplies v. U.S. Dept. of Justice, 903 F.2d 1011, 1013 (5th Cir. 1990))(emphasis added).

### (i) Plaintiff's attempted service on May 5, 2005.

It is important to note that the only issue which is relevant is why service was not properly made during the initial 120 days allowed. As has already been litigated and ruled upon by the trial court, Plaintiff's attempted service of process on May 5, 2005, was improper due to Plaintiff's failure to mark the envelope as "Restricted Delivery" which is expressly required under M.R.C.P. Rule 4(c)(5). Thus, this is squarely an issue of ignorance of the rules, or at the least inadvertence or mistake of counsel, which this Court has held insufficient to meet Plaintiff's burden.

While Plaintiff has argued that he was unaware that Defendant did not reside at the address served, and further that he was unaware that Defendant was in prison, such is not sufficient to show

good cause.

Plaintiff failed to comply with the express requirement under Rule 4(c)(5), in that he did not mark the envelope for "restricted delivery." Had he done so, this letter could have only been signed for by the intended recipient. It should be noted that since his father has no middle name, he knew this letter was in fact intended for his son. (R. at 94). The obvious intent of this requirement was to avoid the very pitfall exemplified in this case. In fact, Plaintiff offers absolutely no explanation in his brief why he failed to comply with this requirement of Rule 4(c)(5).

The error here can only be classified as one of mistake of counsel or ignorance of the rules. As stated above, this is insufficient to show good cause. Holmes v. Coast Transit Auth., 815 So.2d 1183, 1186 (Miss. 2002), citing Watters v. Stripling, 675 So.2d at 1243 (quoting Systems Signs Supplies v. U.S. Dept. of Justice, 903 F.2d 1011, 1013 (5th Cir. 1990)).

Plaintiff's attempts to place the blame on the father of the Defendant is wholly without merit. In essence, Plaintiff urges this Court to place the burden upon the father of the Defendant to notify Plaintiff's counsel of the whereabouts of Defendant. Additionally, it is misplaced to state that Defendant's father "engaged in misleading conduct." Defendant's father did nothing more than sign for a letter for which he was perfectly permitted to sign, since it was not marked "restricted delivery." He had no obligation under the law, or otherwise, to forward or open the mail as suggested by Plaintiff. Not only was this not "misleading," it is not the type of conduct contemplated by precedent cited by Plaintiff regarding evasion and misleading conduct. Plaintiff's attempts an unreasonable stretch of those grounds for good cause. And, it has no bearing on why Plaintiff did not mark the envelope "restricted" in the first place. The simple fact remains that had Plaintiff marked the envelope as required, it would have been returned to him, thus putting him on notice that service had not occurred. Regardless, Plaintiff simply cannot escape the fact that even after being

put on notice, he failed to move for an extension of time.

### (ii) Notice to Plaintiff that service was improper.

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